(b) (6)
From: (b) (6)
Sent: Thursday, September 06, 2007 4:58 PM
To:
Cc:

Subject: Top Crime Guns in 9 NE States - NTC Assignment #LE0706987
Attachments: Top Guns NE States.xls

(b) (6)

The National Tracing Center has processed your request to provide you information from the Firearms Tracing
System (FTS) concerning top firearm traces in the past year for guns recovered in the Northeast states of MA,
CT. RI, VT, NH, ME, NY, PA, and NJ. The time period | used to extract the information from FTS was traces
entered into the FTS database from September 1, 2006 through August 31, 2007 with recoveries in the nine NE
states. The attached file, “Top Guns NE States.xls” contains two worksheets with the information you requested
for question # 1.

112-55

1. The first worksheet, “1. Top Model’, lists the tcgaEa

2. The second worksheet, “2. Top MFG-CAL-TYPE", lists the tof
and weapon type. Smith & Wesson ranked 1, 5, and 6.

rearms traced by manufacturer, caliber,

| will not be in the office tomorrow, but | will be get you the information for question # 2 (list of Top 25 d
S&W nationwide) Monday. | forwarded question # 3 (thefts/losses for all 4 S&W licenses) to co-worker
who manages the Stolen Firearm Program. He should be able to get you the information Friday

Please let me know if you have any questions or need additional information

Please be advised that H.R. 4818, the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2005, severely restricts the disclosure of any part
of the contents of the Firearms Tracing System or any information required to be kept by Federal Firearms Licensees
pursuant to 18 USC 923(g), or required to be reported pursuant to 18 USC 923(g)(3) and 923(g)(7).

The information provided is for official use only and may not be disseminated outside of law enforcement agencies. The
information should not be used for statistical representation without the prior approval of the Chief, National Tracing Center
Division. We recommend that you discuss these restrictions with ATF legal counsel prior to disclosing any of the
information provided in this correspondence outside of ATF.

Erogram !nalyst

Law Enforcement Support Branch
ATF National Tracing Center Division

(b) (6)

Fax: (b) (6)
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Smith & Wesson Inspection

Second Briefing of Inspection Findings
Boston Field Division

Hartford Area Office

November 15, 2007

EX.70e



Variance Violations/Non Compliance

e No current approved variance found for computer record keeping
E2)§.cétc—32r51)under active FFL License #6-04-01684 (violation of 27 CFR

e Current system does not conform to ATF requirements for computer
A&D systems |

- Not all required ATF Acquisition & Disposition information shown or
accurately reflected (Date of acquisition, manufacturer, importer, model,
type, caliber)

- S&W unable to provide A&D record with all required acquisition
information during ATF inventories (Name, address and/or FFL
humber i.e., S&W acquired firearms/frames were not listed,
'Sigma and M&P lines

- S&W unable to accurately query serial number database for current
firearm records

- S&W unable to accurately reflect firearms in inventory

- Printout/records reflected non-firearm items (air guns, handcuffs and
other merchandise)

- S}/fstem not self contained (NFA and some competitor guns maintained
off the system)

- Administrative difficulties encountered included inaccurate
inventory lists provided by S&W, lack of ability to present
inventory records in a timely manner ailure and/or

inability to distinguish S&W firearms firearms in
inventory
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Chronology of 1nspection

Onsite ATF VCIT Compliance Inspection Initiated September 10, 2007

- mvento? samples revealed missing firearmsfg of firearms unaccounted for in inventory records
provided, firearms shipped out without records, firearms boxed up/shipped during inventory and
dlscovexy of S&W failure to report Theft/loss firearms to ATF

Full ATF Inventory initiated October 1, 2007 — October 4, 2007

Firearms located in multiple areas of plant (mam vault, long gun vault, assembly area, manufacturing
area, engineering room, museum, basement vault, mail receiving area, quons at academy).

Issues with sc'mnmg/scanners not functioning, manual entries, errors witl vs. S&W firearms
and multiple separate databases (WIP, OSR, AIP, Guard File ect) Based on'these issues S& W was
allowed an extension until October 15, 2007 to reconcile their remaining inventory of missing firearms.
S&W failed to have this completed and to have records and/or guns available for inspection as
requested. Theft/Loss Reports for these areas were not completed until October 19, 2007.

Full NFA Inventory initiated October 15, 2007

- ATF IOIs had requested NFA firearms to be consolidated/produced prior to start of full inventory on
October 1, 2007. Box of silencers was discovered in basement vault during full inventory/registration
status unknown/some NFA at plant/some at academy/some in museum/NFA records not readily
available during commencement of inspection.

Anti-Personnel ammunition discovered at Academy October 25, 2007

- Anti-Person ition used with Gas guns was intermingled with CS/CN Grenades in ammo room
at Academy. advised Gas Guns were used with Anti — Personnel ammunition.

Unaccou - firearms found in Scrap Area October 31, 2007

' issing, some not in computer
November 7, 2007 additional unregistered NFA firearms, missing firearms and
firearms found in locked room at academy

lack of full disclosure and/or knowledge of what they have and where 3
Academy personnel (BP) claim they have never been in that room,&

all guns are stored). S&W
gl missing firearms

K20



S&W Acquisition & Disposition
Record — Inventory Violations
firearms inventoried Oct. 1-Oct.4
> A&D approx I \/iolations/Discrepancies

Discovered (violation of 27 CFR 478.123(a) & 27 CFR
478.123(b))

unaccounted for serial
numbers , A&D record

> Approx Missing Firearms

Reported as Theft/Loss Firearmsiii

Reports Filed during period of Sept. 13 thru November 7, 2007 -
reconciliation ongoing)

» AppProx
(off book)

Firearms not in computer system

' &/l



S&W — Inventory/Record
Keeping Violations

S&W Possession offi firearm frames without serial numbers
(violation of 27 CFR 478.92(a)(1)(i))

> Frames were completed firearms and not in the manufacturing process.
See Photo 1.

Issuing Duplicate Serial Numbers (violation of 27 CFR 478.92(a)(1)(i))

> S&W was issuing duplicate serial numbers as a business practice in
violation of federal firearms regulations

S&W failed to have all records available for inspection, including NFA
paperwork and records for firearms manufactured prior to the mid
70’s. S&W had donated older firearms records to the CVHS (violation
of 27 CFR 478.121(a)).

S&W also removed firearms from the active computer
s%stem after the filing of a Theft/Loss Report on October 5, 2007.
This resulted in ATF required date being no longer visible (make,
model, caliber, type). The past history/status also no longer
appeared in the system. This prevented ATF IOIs and/or S&W
personnel from querying these firearms during the week of 10/16/07
gviolation of 27 CFR 478.121(a)). Information was restored the
ollowing week.

SYL Qe



S&W Failure to Report Theft/Loss

Firearms

> Failure to Report Theft or Loss of firearms
(violation of 27 CFR 478.39a)

> S&W failed to Report Theft/Loss Firearms after
inventories revealed missing firearms in 2005,
2006, and again in 2007/

firearms were missing after an inventory

conducted on or about March 24, 2007, these missing
firearms were not reported to ATF as required. ATF
I0Is discovered some of these same firearms missing
_during an ATF Inventory in Sept. 2007

firearms were missing after an inventory
conducted on or about March 25, 2006, these firearms
were not reported to ATF as required.

Mlfirecarms were missing after an inventory on or
pout February 2, 2005.

N O




S&W Failure to Report Theft/Loss
Firearms Cont.

> Failure to Report Theft or Loss of firearms within 48 hours
(violation of 27 CFR 478.39a
> S&W serial number

db3 Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

li 1 5 (125 Stat. 552),

N(b) (4) EETE

b3 Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

> In other instances S&W was aware of theft/loss firearms in interstate transit
and did not timely report to ATF (althou?h not technically a violation it
represents quealk internal controls as well as patterns of missing firearms). As
an example firearms were missing on or about May_ 122006 2and not
reported to ATF until June 14, 2006. In another instancyy
firearms were stolen from a shipment/importation opgaeabout June Y, 2006
(a pattern of missing firearms was noted at the timejjiifirearms were
stolen from the last 3 shipments). These were not reported to ATF until June

13, 2006.
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S&W shipment/loan of firearms to

Non S&W Employees

» Missing/Unaccounted for firearms
secondary transfers.

S LT O



S&W failure to respond/Failure to
complete Trace Requests

»NTC queries revealec

out of a query of the Il
unaccounted for firearms.

hits for the

é% ZO LE8



W NFA Violations

B Unregistered NFA firearms

vjolation of 26 U.S.C. 5861(d) Prohibited Acts)
slShort Barreled Shotguns

lSilencers
BlGrenade Launchers/Destructive Devices
FGas Guns/Destructive Devices
sllMachine Gun receiver (model 76)

> Unlawful transfer of an unregistered/unserialized firearm
(violation of 26 U.S.C. 5861(e))
-gl nregistered/unmarked silencer was transferred to the CT Valley
Historical Society in 1998

Bl ot guns registered as SBS transferred to FFL in RI (barrels possibly
switched to GCA firearms)

> Failure to maintain proof of NFA firearms registration
(viglation of 26 U.S.C. 5841(e))

Ml Silencers possessed without proof of registration
of these silencers were noted as missing during a 1980 inspection

Y200



Recommendations/Outstanding &
>
Issues #

unaccounted for serial numbers (theft/loss
report, S&W extended search of available records,

overhaul of records/restoration of serial numbers to
_active and/or searchable system)

unserialized frames (destroy and or verify
markings as required)

» Unserialized/unregistered silencer (surrender, obtain
F10,)

» Full accounting for firearms/frames in previously
unknown locations (consolidate, destroy, and/or
enter into A&D record as required)

> New /updated Computer system




Photo 1 - S&W Unserialized Frames
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Photo 2 -Unaccounted for Firearms
crap arved
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Gas Gun/DD Found at
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Grenade Launchers at S&W
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NFA Firearms found 11/7 at S&W
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Short Barreled Shotguns/Silencer at
S&W Academy
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S&W Transfer of unregistered NFA
silencer

Ex0s



Unaccounted for firearms - Locked
Academy Room
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ATF 38 cal INVENTORY FREEZE ]

DO NOT ADD OR REMOVE ANY 38
cal REVOLVERS FROM THIS VAULT
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b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552), (b) (4)

(0)(3) Law

Stat. 552)

(b)(3)- Public Law
[112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

(b)(3)- Public Law
[112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

(b)(3)- Public Law
[112-55 (125 Stat.
552)

() (3)- Public
Law 112-55
(125 Stat. 552)
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(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552), (b) (7)(E)
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(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552), (b) (7)(E)

(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)
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(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552
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(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 ST
(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552
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(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 S
[(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125

(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552

(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 S

55125 STAT

(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552
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(b) (6)
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(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)
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(b) (4)

(b)(3)- Public Law
[112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55]
(125 Stat. 552)

(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552

(b) (6)
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(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552

(b)(3) 112}

(0)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)
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(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 S

(b)(3)- Public Law
[112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

(b)(3)- Public

(b)(3)- Public Law
[112-55 (125 Stat.

[552)

[(b)(3)- Public Law

112-55 (125 Stat (b)(3) 112]
552)

b)(3)- Public Law
[112-55 (125 Stat.

[552)
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(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55

(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

(125 Stat. 552)

(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

b) (6)

(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552
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(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

(b) (6)
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(b) (6), (b) (7)(C) (b) (6)’ (b) (7)(C)

(b) (6)

((((((
iH

(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

(b) (6), (b) (7)(C)
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

(0)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552

(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 S

(b)(8) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552

(b) (6) (b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 553

(0)(3) 112 Publ]
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(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)
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(0)(3)- Public
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

(b)(3) - (26 USC 6103)
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(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 ST|
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(b)(3)- P
(b)(3)- Public Law 112-

ublic Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

blic
55 (125 Stat. 552)

(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552), (b) (4)

(b)(3)- Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

(D)(3)- Pupblic Law 112-55 (120 Stat. vo2)
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(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552

(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125 STAT 552

(b)(3) 112 Public Law 55 125
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(b)(3) 112 Public Law

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

o) (4) (b) (4)
(b) (4)

(D)3

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

Sent:  Monday, September 24, 2007 8:41 PM

il (D) (6)

Subject: S&W inspection status

Hell{{)K(S)]

In continuing the inspection today of S&W we have encountered additional difficulties. This includes a
lack of follow through on S&W’s part in correcting/addressing deficiencies, as well as actions taken by
(b) (6) S&W Compliance Manager that has affected our inspection progress.

5 in the vault that had not been entered into the computer inventory record (off
I (ircarms were also found on site for the selected lines that were not in the initial computer
inventory lists provided by S&W. Some of these guns were firearms that were in a shipping status but
had not actually left the premises while others were left off the computer inventory but still in the vault.

After finding discrepancies with the Sigma line of firearms we requested that S& W begin to inventory
the remaining firearms in this line. S&Wm.as you are aware has so far refused to do this.

S&W personnel includind{QK(E)] did however agree to take steps during the inspection
process/inventory to ensure we are able to do our jobs and conduct an accurate inventory. This included
freezing the vault inventory of firearms for the particular line of firearms we were looking at for the one
or two days that we anticipated these inventories would take,

(b) (6) following this agreement boxed up and prepared to ship .357 firearms last Wednesday just
as we were beginning our inventory of the .357 line. At leas{is#ilof the firearms found i m these
shipments were not logged out of the vault and still listed in the inventory that we had. when
confronted with this problem simply stated he “Had” to ship the guns out. He furth d he had

directed his staff to box up some of the . 337% up after agreeing not to do so. her

advised that he made the decision to do this was advised of the discrepancies with the .357
inventory e replied that no gun could leave S& W without being scanned or without
a erworkWn fact, repeatedly assured me of this. On Thursday as you are aware S& W and Ron
gain agreed to voluntarily hold the remaining .357 firearms that we had not yet inventoried.
Today we found that .357 firearms were again shipped out sometime on Thursday before we could

complete our inventory of that line.

112-55 Hzﬁ

Following these discrepancies and the reporting B Rhefi/loss firearms Investleatom &
contactem i i inquire as ta whether any of the theft/loss -
1\ . l ] e A ety = n e 10 845 3
] R, ol

firearms ha any
multiple sale in New Je

4/15/2008



Page 2 of 2

(b) (6) equested an invoice from the FFL involved. We later learned that the FFL could not produce a

commercial record or invoice from S&W. S&W could also not produce a commercial record for this
B3 Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

b3 Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

guns that have been shipped out without any records of where they went. Were it not fo heck
with NTC and the hit on the multiple sale we would have not discovered this or had any record of where
these guns went.

Based on the above information in addition to the missing firearms at S&W, we also apparenﬂ? have

In addition to the above problems we also spoke wit (b) (6) S&W Chief of Security today and

inquired as to whether he had been notified and/or provided a list of the missing guns. He advised th

he had not been provided a list of the missing guns. We had previously reached an agreement withm
(b) (6) that lists of missing guns would be provided to the security chief so that his officers (who are

sworn police officers) would be able to keep an eye out for the firearms.

We also sEoke wit{(SY G oday as to whether his staff had looked for any of the theft/loss

firearms. advised that he did not have anyone actively looking for the firearms as we had
requested since the Theft/Loss report on Thursday.

For starters tomorrow as suggested we will seek to look for any back up records to see if we can find
any kind of shipping documents to account for the firearms sent to NJ, including any security documents
for commercial carriers entering/leaving S&W on or about 3/15/07.

Thanks

A I! ln;ustry Operations Investigator

4/15/2008 &33\
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(b) (6)

From: (b) (6)
Sent:  Thursday, September 27, 2007 7:38 PM
To

(D) (6)

Subject: S&W Inventory Concerns

Tan(o) (6)

Based upon what we learned today, S& W’s computer A&D records are so antiquated and their internal
controls are so weak our confidence in any inventory attempted is going to be limited. We however as
you know will do our best to conduct as thorough and as complete an inventory as we can. Furthegemm
details regarding the days difficulties are listed below, including the discovery of a failure to reporgiil
missing/unaccounted for firearms to ATF after a S& W inventory that was conducted on 3/24/07. S&W
has so far agreed to freeze their inventory for Monday and Tuesday and to stop firearms

production/assembly in process while we are conducting the inventory.

We arrived at S&W today to find ourselves again taken off task do to the continued failure of S&W

information as we requested. We had requested th4(JRE) provide us an

issing firearms from the S&W inventory that was done on 3/24/07. We
eparing for the full blown

ghat we could not locate.

In reviewing their inventory process today we also discovereqgiigigdditional missing firearms (mainly
@x_irearms) that wgsgangaccounted for from the same 3/24/07 inventory. Based on this

information, S&W failed to repokg rearms that were migsj accounted for after this inventory
on 3/24/07. We were only able to review information for mWrems off of this list. S&W was
unable to provide a reconciliation list for any of the firearms, which required a time consuming serial
number by serigbaumber inquiry in their system. Based gp thiswe had them file another Theft/Loss

[ ]
report today fE. g uns). We still need to verify the

rearms (Total Theft/Loss guns is notd
whereabouts of the remaining firearms from the two lists. S&W advised that most were shipped out
(not sure how they could ship them out when they could not find them on hand on 3/24/07, but that is
another story).

b3 Public Law
112-55 (125 Stat.

Regarding the non — reporting of thig rearms from the 3/24/07 we interviewed key S&W personnel
today and received conflicting information.

mlnvemory Manager stated that he is provided the list of missing guns from the MSI
gpartm

ent after the inventory (IT p, told to just keep looking for them untj e
found. Eventuaw t ccounting Manager if guns are foun dvised

he does not info ompliance Manager of the missing guns and does not report it to
ATF. He advised he was aware of the requirement to report missing firearms to ATF but did not report
these guns as theft/loss firearms to ATF.

(b) (6) Accounti vised he looks at the missing guns for financial purposes and gives
the listing back t

Ly BT

4/15/2008



Page 2 of 3

(b) (6) Plant Manager would not acknowledge the missing guns and/or did not answer the
question.

(b) (6) Receiving Manager had no idea of the missing guns and/or procedures.

(b) (6) Operational VP stated that the firearms inventories are done for “financial reasons only™.
f missing guns following their

In short the e no system in place for nati
inventories. Compliance Manager an Inventory Manager are both aware of

the need to notify ATF of Theft/Loss firearms. We do have written internal email documents showing
(X} ziled to report Theft/loss firearms within 48 hours on other occasions.

We encountered additional difficulties in the preparation for Monday’s ATF inventory. S&W was
preparing to inventory only their “finished goods/vault area”. We had as you know already instructed
them that we were conducting a 100% inventory of all firearms on hand that would be required to be in
the A&D. One of the issues was tha“ﬂ@ﬁ?lam Manger needed the defjnitign of a “firearm”
from us. He apparently also did not even have an ATF regulations book on hand (b) (6) nded up
having to read him the definition word for word from the reg. book as to shat s fzearm was. Ag

~d another meetino with all available executives | CFO, and[éiai

esiden V.P. Human Resources) and key S&W pe
including IT Department) and
Chief of Security. We again reiterated that we were conducting a 100% inventory of all firearms on the
premises (including finished serialized receivers) so there was no confusion. During the course of these
conversations we learned that S& W has multiple coding systems in their computers including for
example, finished goods, shipping, assembly in process, vault, repair, LOAN ??, guard, return, and other
categories of firearms. There is apparently no one computer coding or search that can be done to
account for all firearms that are physically on hand. We also learned that firearms are transferred about
the plant, reentered into different computer systems, loaned employees. sent for testing off site at the
academy and/or loaned out to S& W employees. We were also advised that various S&W employees
may have guns in their offices, in file cabinets, and at home for “loaning” purposes. We advised S&W
that they somehow need to come up with a way to account for all firearms on hand or that should be on
hand for Monday that should be in the ATF Computer A&D record.

Based on the above information I cannot guarantee confidence in any inventory we attempt based on
their system and lack of internal controls. We however, will as discussed do the best that we can with
their existing inventory system to account for all firearms on hand that we can and to attempt to
determine how many missing guns they actually have. We were flat out told by various S&W
employees that financial concerns have governed all else at S&W for the last few years and that ATF
compliance was not at the forefront or even thought of in some of their processes, even for missing
firearms. The IT department also advised that the S& W computer system was outdated and obviously
not built to comply with ATF requirements. More emphasis seems to be placed in tracking guns in the
manufacturing process then showing what is on hand for inventory purposes. It takes hours if not days
to receive any kind of inventory that we have requested, even if it has been one or two inventory lines.

Based on the system limitations I may implement an integrity check into the process by inventorying
one line they way we already have without their scanning system. We can discuss tomorrow but [ am
open to ideas.

Thanks

4/15/2008 (a_}( ’67
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‘rom:
sent:

o:
Cc:
Subject;

See below,

Theseguns have been missing since the AFT audit. There were in the warranty area
prior to the audit and are no longer there. Do you want to add these to your
missing/stolen file?

(b) (6)

y 07, 200B 2:12 BM

Guns for Repair

(b) (6)

Sent: Mon J 210:48 2008

Subject: EW Guns for Repair
The fore mentioned guns are missing from the Pistol assembly area. These guns have been in
house for nearly a year and we finally got the approval to replace these but now can not
find them. They were sitting in our warranty area and have not been seem since the AFT

audit took place. All four of these had customer return labels and were just parts throw
in a box, some only had frames in the box.

My gquestion is do you know the where-a-bouts of these?

(b) (6) maybe you know what happen to them?

Thanks,
----- Original Message-----
From: Valley, Lil

04, 2007 1:08 BPM

- Guns for Repair

S b3 Public Law 112-55 (125 Stat. 552)

has sen guns for repairs - 5/N's VHN

X



Recap from Agenda/Smith & Wesson Compliance Inspection on November 14, 2007

L

2

h

10.

(b) (6)

3(D) (6)

ATE
b3 Public
Law 112-55

room and@ieMrom various locations/individuals brought into the office area near

S& W provided a copy of the amended reports/recovered firearms since the last
ATF/S&W visit.

ames from the Scrap Area on hand and was physically
inspected for a verification of serial number(s).

S&W provided an listing of the bound manufacturing books kept on site at the
address: 2100 Roosevelt Avenue[{$JR(S) is still in the process of researching

and compiling the list. [{S)J(S)IMdid provide 2 listing of the Index Bound
Books, however, the list is not complete. will research and complete

and return. (Requires follow-up by ATF.

as advised that ATF will research and respond. This will also be
addressed at the S& W/ATF meeting to be held on Friday, November 16™.
(Requires follow-up by ATF if not addressed at the aforementioned meeting.)

Copies of ti INFA certifications for silencers recently received from the
ATF/NFA branch were provided by S&W.

S&W presented a draft letter to the NFA Branch requesting a future certification.
ATF reviewed the letter, no suggestions for revision from the ATF 10I’s were
provided. Copy obtained for file.

ATF reguested that a listing be provided from S& W for the inventory taken by
IOIWocated within the Performance Center of unserialized frames by
Part numbers and quantity.
(Requires follow-up by ATF.

vill provide this at a future date.

IOI interviewed S& W employee (6) in the Scrap Area and Betty located in
quality control for verification of procedures of the coding of the scrap guns.

Both a Scrap Report and a report for Serial numbers removed from frames/OSR
replacement frames were obtained for exhibit.

The| ; d at the Retail
store in the 2" case from the right. I0I’s erified the serial
number on 11/08/07. This firearm should be removed from a theft/loss report if it
was previously reported([{)N(SNdid S& W provide an amended Theft/Loss report

Er g



stating this firearm was recovered? I did not view one. Otherwise, we need to
Jollow-up.)

Note: Also, we need to research and determine whether or not the Retail Store

firearms on display were inventoried. This is where the M& P 15 was found.

CRYD
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(0) (6)

From: (b) (6)

Sent: Thursday, November 01, 2007 4.13 PM
To:
Ce: Zammillo, James A, Sr..

Subject: FW: S&W
Importance: High

(b) (6)

Action necessary. See below

VNSuccessru
/€Aaces

From: Zammillo, James A., Sr.
(]

On Monda (b) (6) reviewing all traces to get report as to why. Some are not their fault, e.g. age. Many, many
are therr fault. Details next week

Can you send him the numbers that are missing?

James A. Zammillo
Deputy Assistant Director (FO)

e (b) (6)
Sent: Thursday, November 01, 2007 4:01 PM
m@[@_ Zaohivilo, James L, Si
Subject: RE: S&W

10-4. We finished about an hour ago and just returned to hotel and reading emails See you next week

er 01, 2007 2:57 PM
ammillo, James A., Sr.
Subject: RE: S&W

Discussed issue with DAD Zammillo earlier today. Did not bother you as I thought
you would be tied up with panel interviews. Thanks for staying on top of all
issues.

gpema; ;genl in ll!arge

4/30/2008

F a5
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Boston Field Division
Telephone

bt (D) (6)

From:({(9X@))

Sent: Thursday, November 01, 2007 3:52 PM
To: Zammillo, James A., Sr. (6)
Subject: RE: S&W

Actually, | had forwarded a request -(b) (6) ast Friday requesting his assistance in getting trace
information on S & W as was previously requested through the field office in Hartford but to date have had no
response ﬁoml will ask Acting (b) (6) to respond to you regarding S & W side of this issue.

From: Zammillo, James A., Sr.

Sent: Thursday, November 01, 2007 12:07 PM
To:
Cc: Zammillo, James A., Sr.
Subject: S&W

Do you have any info on how S&W is interacting with the Tracing Center? Rumor is that it is not well.

James A. Zammillo
Deputy Assistant Director (FO)

4/30/2008 LY
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April 16, 2007
Virginia Tech Shooting Leaves 33 Dead

By CHRISTINE HAUSER and ANAHAD O’CONNOR

Thirty-three people were killed today on the campus of Virginia Tech in what appears to be the
deadliest shooting rampage in American history, according to federal law-enforcement
officials. Many of the victims were students shot in a dorm and a classroom building,.

“Today, the university was struck with a tragedy that we consider of monumental proportions,”
said the university’s president, Charles Steger. The campus police chief said this evening that
15 people were wounded by the gunman, although there were other reports of higher numbers
of injuries.

Witnesses described scenes of mass chaos and unimaginable horror as some students were
lined up against a wall and shot. Others jumped out of windows to escape, or crouched on
floors to take cover.

The killings occurred in two separate attacks on the campus in Blacksburg, Va. The first at
around 7:15 a.m., when two people were shot and killed at a dormitory. More than two and a
half hours later, 31 others, including the gunman, were shot and killed across campus in a
classroom building, where some of the doors had been chained. Victims were found in different
locations around the building.

The first attack started as students were getting ready for classes or were on their way there.
The university did not evacuate the campus or notify students of that attack until several hours
later.

As the rampage unfolded, details emerged from witnesses describing a gunman going room to
room in a dormitory, Ambler Johnston Hall, and of gunfire later at Norris Hall, a science and
engineering classroom building. When it was over, even sidewalks were stained with blood.
Among those dead was the gunman, whose body was found along with victims in Norris Hall.

“Norris Hall is a tragic and sorrowful crime scene,” said the campus police chief at Virginia
2ch, Wendell Flinchum.
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Chief Flinchum said the gunman took his own life. He said at a televised news briefing this
evening that the police had a preliminary identification of the suspected gunman but they were
not yet ready to release it. He said the gunman was not a student.

According to a federal law enforcement official, the gunman did not have identification and
could not be easily identified visually because of the severity of an apparently self-inflicted
wound to the head. He said investigators were trying to trace purchase records for two
handguns found near the body.

At televised news conferences this afternoon and this evening, Chief Flinchum and Mr. Steger
tried to explain why authorities did not act to secure the rest of the campus immediately after
the first shooting.

Chief Flinchum said that initially officials thought that the shooting was “domestic,” suggesting
that it was between individuals who knew each other, and isolated to the dormitory. He said
the campus was not shut down after the first shooting because authorities thought that the
attacker may have left the campus, or even the state.

“We knew we had two people shot,” he said. “We secured the building. We secured the crime
scene.” He later added: “We acted on the best information we had at the time.”

Chief Flinchum said officers initially began investigating a "person of interest,” as a result of
the dormitory shootings. The person, a male, was described as a friend of one of the dorm
victims, but Chief Flinchum said the police had not detained him.

At 9:45, police got another 911 call about shootings at Norris Hall, just as university officials
were meeting to discuss the first shootings. "We were actually having a meeting about the
earlier shootings when we learned that another shooting was underway,” Mr. Steger told

reporters Monday night. By the time officers arrived the shooting had stopped and the gunman
had killed himself, the Chief said.

Police appeared to believe that the two shootings were related, but said they could not confirm
that until they had the results of a ballistics analysis.

A parent of one student, Elaine Goss, said her son, Alec Calhoun, a junior engineering major,
jumped out a second-story window in Norris Hall when the gunman entered his classroom.

She said that she first spoke to her son, “I couldn’t understand him; it was like gibberish.”

“It took a while to figure out shootings, lots of shootings, and that his whole class had jumped

OB,
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out the window,” she said.
Ms. Goss said that her son hurt his back in the jump and went to the hospital.

Another student, Jessica Paulson, said she was on the fourth floor at Ambler Johnston Hall
when the shootings occurred on the opposite side of the floor.

“You could hear two shots,” one followed shortly by a second,” recounted Ms. Paulson, who
was preparing to go to an early class. Neither she nor most of the other students nearby
understood what had happened until several hours later.

At least 17 Virginia Tech students were being treated for gunshot wounds and other injuries at
Montgomery Regional Hospital, and four of them were in surgery, according to a hospital
spokesperson. At Lewis-Gale Medical Center, in Salem, Va., four students and a staff member
were treated for injuries. Two were in stable condition, and the conditions of the other three
were described as “undetermined.”

Officials said there may have been more injured and taken to other medical facilities.

The university has more than 25,000 full-time students on a campus that is spread over 2,600
acres.

The atmosphere on the Virginia Tech campus was desolate and preternaturally quiet by this
afternoon. Students gathered in small groups, some crying, some talking quietly and others
consoling each other.

Some students complained that they had not been notified of the first shooting on campus for
more than two hours.

Kirsten Bernhards, 18, said she and many other students had no idea that a shooting had
occurred when she left her dorm room in O’Shaughnessy Hall shortly before 10 a.m., more
than two hours after the first shootings.

“I was leaving for my 10:10 film class,” she said. “I had just locked the door and my neighbor
said, ‘did you check your email?"”

The university had, a few minutes earlier, sent out a bulletin warning students about an
apparent shooter. But few students seemed to have any sense of urgency.

Ms. Bernhards said she walked toward her class, preoccupied with an upcoming exam and

B,
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listening to music on her iPod. On the way, she said, she heard some loud cracks, and only later
concluded they had been gunshots from the second round of shootings.

But even at that point, many students were walking around the campus with little if any sense
of alarm.

It was only when Ms. Bernhards got close to Norris Hall, the second of two buildings where the
shootings took place, that she realized something had gone wrong.

“I looked up and I saw at least 10 guards with assault rifles aiming at the main entrance of
Norris,” she recalled.

Up until today, the deadliest campus shooting in United States history was in 1966 at the
University of Texas, where Charles Whitman climbed to the 28th-floor observation deck of a
clock tower and opened fire, killing 16 people before he was gunned down by police. In the
Columbine High attack in 1999, two teenagers killed 12 fellow students and a teacher before
killing themselves.

While few confirmed details about the gunman and the motive were clear, students told
reporters at WTKR, a local television station, that the gunman had been looking for his
girlfriend, and at one of the locations he lined up some students and shot them all, according to
Mike Mather, a reporter for the station.

President Bush offered condolences this afternoon to relatives of the victims, and said federal
investigators would help the Virginia authorities in any way possible. “We hold the victims in
our hearts; we lift them up in our prayers,” Mr. Bush said at the White House.

President Bush was “horrified” at the news of the shooting, said Dana Perino, a White House
spokeswoman, earlier in the day.

One student captured partial images, broadcast on CNN, using his cellphone video camera
showing grainy dark-clad figures on the street outside of campus buildings. Popping sounds
from the gunfire were audible.

“This place is in a state of panic,” said a student who was interviewed on CNN, Shaver Deyerle.
“Nobody knew what was going on at first.”

He said that the shooting reminded him of the Columbine High School killings.

Today's shooting at Virginia Tech comes in the same week, eight years ago, as the shooting at
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Columbine on April 20, 1999.

The police were slowly evacuating students from campus buildings and all classes have been
canceled.

Families were told to reunite with students at the Inn at Virginia Tech, a facility of conference
space and hotel rooms. The university community was told to assemble on Tuesday at the
Cassell Coliseum to start to deal with the tragedy, a campus statement said.

Images on CNN showed the police with assault rifles swarming several buildings, sirens blaring
in the background and a voice over a loudspeaker warning people across the campus to take
cover in buildings and stay away from windows. Many students could be seen crouching on
floors in classrooms and dormitories.

The police evacuated students and faculty, many of them to local hotels, and witnesses said
that some students were seen scrambling out of windows to get to safety. A Montgomery
County school official said that all schools throughout the county were being shut down.

The shooting was the second in the past year that forced officials to lock down the campus. In
August of 2006, an escaped jail inmate shot and killed a deputy sheriff and an unarmed
security guard at a nearby hospital before the police caught him in the woods near the
university.

The capture ended a manhunt that led to the cancellation of the first day of classes at Virginia
Tech and shut down most businesses and municipal buildings in Blacksburg. The accused
gunman, William Morva, is facing capital murder charges.

Reporting was contributed by David Johnston, Edmund L. Andrews Sarah Abruzzese, Cate
Doty and David Stout.

Copyright 2007 The New York Times Company
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(b) (6)

From: (b) (6)

Sent:  Friday, January 25, 2008 1:06 PM
To:
Cc:
Subject: FW: S&W Question on Imported frames/markings

Hi (b) (6)

Please see the response to our question on the frames frormpfrom FTB. | reach out to you to discuss
corrective action. Some of the S&W persons are going to the shot show next week so | am hoping ta notify them
to begin corrective action prior to their departure

Thanks

g lg ;n!usrry Operations Investigator
W £

From (b) (6)
Segt: Fri

-

C
Subject: RE: S&W Question on Imported frames/markings

&1 (b) (6)

| am surprised that you are stili at Smith & Wesson; you must be hating life by now. You are correct in your
research on the regulations. These frames traveled in commerce and are required to be marked with importers

markings within 15 days of taking pessession from Customs. | spoke with the Chief and Assistant Chief and we
are all in agreement on the markings issue. Good Luck

(b) (6)

Firearms Enforcement Officer

United States Department of Justice

Bureau of Alcohoi Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives
244 Needy Road

Martl (6.) AN 401
Work
Zta(b) (6)

D) 6) T i

Sent: Thursda ary 24, 2008 5:12 PM
b) (6)

Cc:
Subject: S&W Question on Imported frames/markings

mAt(b) (6)

| know you had answered some of the other S&W issues foris 5o
this to see if FTB has dealt with this issue. We found appro el

anted to see if | could reach out to you on
irearm frames onsite today at S&W that were

5/6/2008 —
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imported frorrmithout any importer information listed on thenmnformation was on the gun and
serial number but no name/city/state of the importer). The frames accor ing to S&W were imported years ago but
were never marked as required for imported firearms. The guns were imported as frame “kits” with all required
gun parts together accept for the slide and barrel. In checking the regulations for importers | noticed they have 15

days to mark firearms with the required markings under 27 CFR 478.1 12(d)(2). | did not see any distinction in the
regulations between “firearms” and “frames” under this regulation. Bottom line, Shouldn't S&W have marked

these frames as imported by S&W within the 15 days? They eviden ing to assemble these guns into a
() RCIIS W gun (model SWO9) with the imported frame/lower fro nd a slide/barre! from S&W but for

some reason never did. | also want to make sure that | am not missing anything on the import end either. Are
these SW99's approved for importation? Do they meet the factoring criteria for imported pistols (not sure if this
even applies or is an issue without the slide/barrel on the gun)

Thanks for the help and let me know if you have any questions or need mare information.

E ;.‘I- ;ngustry Operations Investigator
Hartfordl ii ﬁii Office

5/6/2008 O



10 Causeway Street, Room 791
Boston, Massachusetts 02222

March 14, 2008

we(b) (6)
SRC

(b) (6)
President and COO
Smith & Wesson
2100 Roosevelt Ave.
Springfield, Massachusetts 01104

VIA FedEx

RE: Closing Conference
2 (D) (6)

We are writing to request that Smith & Wesson attend a closing conference at the Boston
Field Division in order to discuss the results of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and
Explosives’ (ATF) recently concluded compliance inspection. Based on the overwhelming
scope and nature of the violations, coupled with what appears to be a continued pattern of
disregard for the federal requirements, there exists sufficient cause for the Director of Industry
Operations to revoke Smith & Wesson’s firearm importer and manufacturer licenses.
Accordingly, we are requesting that Smith & Wesson meet with this office in order to show
cause why such adverse action should not be initiated against its licenses. In order to assist
Smith & Wesson in preparing for the meeting, we have enclosed a courtesy copy of the Report of
Violations to be issued in this matter. A final copy will be issued at the closing conference.

As you are aware, between September 10, 2007 and February 29, 2008 ATF Industry
Operations Investigators conducted an on-premises inspection of Smith & Wesson for the
purposes of determining compliance with the Gun Control Act of 1968 and its attendant rules
and regulations. In November 2007, representatives of Smith & Wesson met with ATF at the
Boston Field Division to discuss the preliminary findings of the inspection. At that meeting
Smith & Wesson presented this office with information concerning its response to the extensive
violations noted up to that point. Additional violations were discovered subsequent to the
November meeting.

Ev ¥



(b) (6) T

Due to the severity of the violations cited, we are requesting that any further
communications from Smith & Wesson to ATF concerning this matter be directed to the Boston
Field Division management staff. Specifically, we would y future correspondence
or co ications be addresse lvision CounseW He can be reached at
Please contac vithin 15 days of receipt of this letter in OW

e a mutually convenient date for the closing conference. You may also contac
if you have any further questions. We look forward to your response.

Sincerely,

Spemal g gent 1n ”!arge

Encl.

Cr ¢4



¥ Smith

CRR0N

(b)(6)/(b)(7)(C)

Fresident & Chisf Operatling Officer

July 9, 2008

VIA EMAIL AND OVERNIGHT COURIER

Kenneth E. Houchens, Director of Industry Operations
c/o} (b)(6)/(b)(7)(C) } Division Counsel

Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives
10 Causeway St., Room 791

Boston, MA 02222-1081

Re: Smith & Wesson Response to Report of Violations

Dear Mr. Houchens and (0)(6)/(b)(7)(C) i:

Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives’ (AFT) Report of Violations dated June 2,
2008 (the “Report”). Smith & Wesson appreciates the significance of the Report, and recognizes
that there are a number of compliance issues that need to be remediated within the company. We
are grateful to the ATF for its consideration throughout this process, and are committed to
implementing a number of programs and procedures in order to ensure compliance with all
federal, state and local firearms laws going forward.

Attached is a legal response to the Report prepared by, (P)6)/(b)(7)(C) ion our behalf, as
well as a comprehensive voluntary compliance program. We have spent considerable effort in
preparing our voluntary compliance program, and hope that ATF appreciates the substantial
investment required to implement this program, both in terms of human resources and capital.
We remain willing to discuss these compliance issues further with ATF, and welcome any
comments or suggestions that you have with respect to our compliance program. We hope that
once you have reviewed the materials submitted by us in response to the Report, you would
agree that revocation is not warranted. We ask that, once the ATF has had an opportunity to
review the materials submitted by us, we can meet with the appropriate ATF officials in Boston
or at our facility in Springfield to discuss this matter further. 1 will ask (b)(6)/(b)(7)(C) ito

............................

I look forward to hearing from you.

QI‘I’\{"QY‘PI‘I

(b)(6)/(b)(7)(C)

President & Chiet Operating Officer

2022-APPEAL-0012-000053



(b)(6)/(b)(7)(C)

ATTORNEY AT LAW

(b)(6)/(b)(7)(C)

FAIRFAX, VIRGINIA 22030

(b)(6)/(b)(7)(C) (b)(6)/(b)(7)(C)

July 8, 2008

Kenneth E. Houchens, Director of Industry Operations
c/oi (P)(6)/(b)(7)(C) Division Counsel

Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Fircarms and Explosives
10 Causeway St., Room 791

Boston, MA 02222-1081

Re: Smith & Wesson Response to Report of Violations

Dear Mr. Houchens and (b)(6)/(b)(7)(C)

I am writing to you as counsel for Smith & Wesson in hopes of clarifying certain legal
issues arising in the Report of Violations dated June 2, 2008 (hereafter “the Report”). Before
doing so, I wish to reiterate that Smith & Wesson is committed to being in compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations and wishes to cooperate in every possible way with ATF toward
that end. This letter is being submitted simultaneously with the Smith & Wesson Voluntary
Compliance Program.

No Willful Violations

“[Wihen determining the willfulness of conduct, we must determine whether the acts
were committed in deliberate disregard of, or with plain indifference toward, either known legal
obligations or the general unlawfulness of the actions.” RSM, Inc. v. Herbert, 466 F.3d 316, 321
(4™ Cir. 2006). RSM found that “the long history of repeated failures, warnings, and explanations
of the significance of the failures, combined with knowledge of the legal obligations, readily
amounts to willfulness as used in 18 U.S.C. § 923(e).” Id. at 322. Applying these criteria, Smith
& Wesson has committed no willful violations, and has no history of warnings whatever.

The Report does not allege that any of the violations found were willful. As you know,
betore this inspection Smith & Wesson had not had the benefit of an ATF general inspection
since 1989. T use the term “benefit” because the broad purpose of such an inspection is to
promote compliance by having ATF inspectors with expertise bring to the licensee’s attention

2022-APPEAL-0012-000054



problems with reference to recordkeeping and inventory so that corrective action can be taken.

When ATF conducted the compliance inspection in 1989, no violations were cited. The
acquisition/disposition system in use until recently was the same system concept as used in 1989
with some enhancements. Smith & Wesson therefore assumed that its recordkeeping practices
were proper.

The owners, directors, and management of Smith & Wesson have changed greatly in the
past years. Many of the compliance issues identified in the Report stemmed from policies and
practices dating back to the 1980s and perhaps even the 1970s. The current owners, directors,
and management are committed to pursue compliance zealously and beyond what is legally
required.

Violations beyond the Statute of Limitations

Smith & Wesson is committed to resolving recordkeeping issues. A major portion of the
problems discussed in the Report originated more than two decades ago, and were not cited by
ATF as violations during the 1989 compliance inspection.

Should ATF contemplate adverse action against Smith & Wesson, it may not do so for
any violations that occurred more than five years ago. 28 U.S.C. § 2462 provides that “a
proceeding for the enforcement of any civil fine, penalty, or forfeiture, pecuniary or otherwise,
shall not be entertained unless commenced within five years from the date when the claim first
accrued.” The applicability of § 2462 to proceedings under § 923(¢) was recognized in Article 11
Gun Shop, Inc. v. Gonzales, 441 F.3d 492, 496-97 (7" Cir. 2006). In that case, the government
conceded that “ATF could not revoke Gun World's license because of” violations more than five
years earlier.” /d. at 496.

That said, Smith & Wesson wishes to resolve all outstanding issues with ATF and seeks
ATEF’s assistance in ensuring compliance with all laws and regulations.

'See Johnson v. Securities & Exchange Commission, 87 F.3d 484, 489 n.6 (D.C. Cir. 1996)
(holding about § 2462 that “the term ‘penalty,” for the past two centuries, has been commonly used
be legislators and courts in describing license suspensions and revocations.”; . P. Lambert Co. v.
Secretary of Treasury, 354 F.2d 819, 822 (Ist Cir. 1965) (“the general policy of statutes of
limitations is so deeply ingrained in our legal system that a period of limitation made generally
applicable to such proceedings, as is section 2462, is not to be avoided unless that purpose is made
manifestly clear.”).

*See Briefof the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (“True enough, ATF
could not revoke Gun World's license because of these [five-year-old] facts”).
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No Legal Duty Exists to Conduct Inventories

While having a duty to report a theft or loss when discovered, a licensee has no duty to
take an inventory. ATF sought to adopt such a regulation but it has been vetoed by Congress. In
2000, ATF proposed a new regulation entitled “Inventory,” 27 C.F.R. § 178.130, which would
have read in part:

(a)(1) Each licensed manufacturer, licensed importer, and licensed dealer
must take at least one true and accurate physical inventory each year. . . .

(b) Every physical inventory must be reconciled with the record of receipt
and disposition required under this part. Any theft or loss of a firearm disclosed
during inventory must be reported within 48 hours after its discovery in
accordance with the requirements of Sec. 178.39a. .. .}

Congress has forbidden the adoption of the above proposed regulation in annual
appropriations riders which state: “That no funds made available by this or any other Act shall be
expended to promulgate or implement any rule requiring a physical inventory of any business
licensed under section 923 of title 18, United States Code . . ..” Consolidated Appropriations
Act, 2008, P.L. 110-161, 121 Stat. 1844, 1904 (2007). Accordingly, a licensee has no legal duty
to take a physical inventory or to reconcile any inventory with the record of receipt and
disposition.

The Report here alleges that S&W failed to report losses on a timely basis. The basis of
this allegation in part is that S&W took a financial inventory in a given storage area which did
not reveal a complete inventory, and then failed to conduct a complete physical inventory by
serial number there and at other places of storage in the facility. S&W has explained that a
financial inventory is not the same as a physical inventory, and that it did not conduct a
comprehensive physical inventory in every location throughout the entire facility. Accordingly,
to the extent that any alleged violation is predicated on S&W not taking a physical inventory, the
allegation is precluded by the annual appropriations riders passed by Congress.

Nonetheless, S&W voluntarily agrees to conduct physical inventories, to reconcile
inventories with records of receipt and disposition, and to report losses found on a timely basis.
For details, see the Smith & Wesson Voluntary Compliance Program.

The 48-Hour Deadline to Report a Loss Begins When the
Loss is “Discovered,” Not When the Inquiry Begins

The Report alleges instances in which Smith & Wesson did not comply with 18 U.S.C. §
923(g)(6), which provides: “Each licensee shall report the theft or loss of a firearm from the

*Notice of proposed rulemaking, Notice No. 902, 65 Federal Register, No. 167, 52054-52056
(August 28, 2000).

2022-APPEAL-0012-000056



licensee's inventory or collection, within 48 hours after the theft or loss is discovered, to the
Attorney General and to the appropriate local authorities.” S&W disputes that it did not report
losses from inventory within 48 hours of “discovery” thereof. However, as a result of recent
ATF initiatives and communications with the industry, S&W believes that a protocol regarding
interpretation and application of § 923(g)(6) has been reached and that ATF and S&W are in
agreement.

The duty to report a stolen or lost fircarm within 48 hours of when “the theft or loss is
discovered” means that the licensee must identify the missing firearm as stolen or lost, not just
that the firearm cannot be found at a given moment in time. The 48-hour clock does not begin to
tick when the licensee decides to locate a specific tirearm or when an employee first attempts to
locate it. It begins to tick when the conclusion_is reached, based on all information available, that
the firearm is lost. As succinctly put by (b)(6)/(b)(7)(C) i, Deputy Assistant Director, Field
Operations: “Clock begins running when you are reasonably certain that the firearm is missing.”
ATF Manufacturer Seminar, May 8, 2008.

Until such time as the licensee with due diligence “discovers” that a theft or loss has
occurred, it would be improper to report it as a theft or loss. The licensee must avoid filing a
false or inaccurate report. ATF Form 3310.11 concludes with a certification for the licensee to
sign “that the information contained in this report is true and correct.” The form is sent to the
ATF National Tracing Center (NTC) for entry into its database. Given this certification and the
NTC’s need for accurate information, the licensee must actually discover that the firearm is
stolen or lost, and not merely misplaced or unable to be located at the moment.

S&W handles thousands of firearms per day. If an enquiry is received concerning the
status of a firearm, all work at the factory does not cease that moment to search for that firearm,
and the 48-hour clock does not begin when the enquiry is first received. If a person in one
department cannot find a specific firearm, others need to search. It is only after all probable
locations are searched that the conclusion may be reached that a firearm is missing. Within 48
hours of that discovery the fircarm is reported missing to ATF and local law enforcement.

The Report here states that S&W did not report losses within 48 hours (e.g., fircarms
missing in November 2007 and January 2008). However, S&W was not reasonably certain that
these firearms were missing at those times, and once the searches revealed that they were indeed
missing, S&W filed loss reports within 48 hours. The allegations about these specific firearms
were based on emails which S&W voluntarily shared with inspectors. These emails fail to
inform that when an employee does not locate a firearm in a specific location, enquiries are made
to other employees at staff meetings, telephone calls, and otherwise to determine whether the
firearm may be located elsewhere.*

*Regarding the first cited incident, an email dated Nov. 16, 2007, stated that the frame and
cylinder of a returned customer handgun (H41188) could not be found in the refinishing department.
But that was only the beginning of the search, not the date the loss was “discovered.” Further

4
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ATF has recently focused discussions on the reasonableness of the time period from when
an enquiry is first made to locate a firearm, through the search process and the final conclusion
that the firearm is missing. For instance, at the ATF Manufacturer Seminar, May 8, 2008, Acting
Assistant Director: (b)(6)/(b)(7)(C) | Enforcement Programs and Services, opined that two weeks
would be reasonable, but six months would be unreasonable, for a manufacturer to ascertain that
a firearm is missing. Along with other manufacturers, S&W looks forward to continued dialogue
with ATF on this issue.

S&W i1s committed to streamlining its process to search for firearms with the goal of
reasonably ascertaining within the shortest possible time whether a firearm is missing. For
further details, see the Smith & Wesson Voluntary Compliance Program. Once it discovers that
a fircarm is missing, S&W will continue strictly to adhere to the 48-hour reporting requirement.

As a Corporation, S&W May Act Through Agents, Employees, and Representatives

__________________________

the busmess purposes of promotmg and marketing such hrearms Accordingly, none of the
above laws and regulations cited are applicable.

S&W S dlrectron and control, performed a variety of services in furtherance of

communications (including those not reflected in the emails) failed to locate the firearm. A loss
report was filed on Jan. 28, 2008, which was within 48 hours of S&W concluding that the firearm
was lost.

In the other incident, handguns | (b)(6) iwere found missing from the
pistol assembly-warranty area on Jan. 7, 2008. Followup searches in other locations were
unsuccessful. A loss report was filed on Jan. 23, 2008, within 48 hours of the time it was concluded
that the firearms were lost.

*“An agency relationship is created when there is mutual consent, express or implied, that

the agent is to act on behalf and for the benefit of the principal, and subject to the principal's
control.” Theos & Sons, Inc. v. Mack Trucks, Inc., 431 Mass. 736, 742 (2000), citing Rest. 2nd of
Agency §§ 1, 14 (1958). It is well established that an agent’s authority may be limited to very
specific objects. E.g., Royle v. Worcester Buick Co., 243 Mass. 143, 145-46 (1922).

5
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S&W’s business interests, including but not limited to, representing S&W at

eemneidentities himself {o.the public as a representative of S&W. Time spent and
expenses incurred by! menmmo t in the performance of his duties for S&W are

him firearms for the business purposes of promoting and marketing such firearms
at a shooting sports event.

Revenue Ruling 69-248, 1969-1 C.B. 360, recognized that “there is no provision in 18
U.S.C. Chapter 44 which would prohibit licensees from shipping, transporting or delivering
firearms in interstate commerce to themselves for business purposes (exclusive of sale or
disposition) in care of their employees, agents or representatives.” It continues:

Licensees engaged in the fircarms or ammunition business typically are
corporations which can only conduct their operations through employees, agents
and representatives. In the course of such operations, it is frequently necessary to
ship, transport or deliver firearms in interstate commerce for bona fide business
purposes such as display, advertising, research, testing, comparative evaluations
and marketing promotions. In such cases, title to, and ultimate control of, the
firearms remain in the licensee even though the firearms or ammunition are placed

in the temporary custody of an employee, agent or representative for limited
lengths of time.

Revenue Ruling 69-248 adds that it is applicable to the situation of the licensee’s
“nonlicensed employees, agents or representatives for bona fide business purposes (exclusive of
sale or disposition), where the actual custody of the firearms is transferred for a limited period of
time and where title and ultimate control of the firearms remain in such licensee.” Moreover,
“When no longer needed by the employee, agent or representative for the business purpose for
which received, disposition of all such firearms must be by return to the licensee . . . .”

Revenue Ruling 69-248 was issued to clarify that the Gun Control Act of 1968 did not
prohibit a licensee from shipping a firearm in interstate commerce to its own agent in violation of
the prohibition on shipping such firearm to a non-licensee.® The Brady Act of 1994 did not

618 U.S.C. § 922(a) provides in part:

It shall be unlawful — . . .

(2) for any importer, manufacturer, dealer, or collector licensed under the
provisions of this chapter to ship or transport in interstate or foreign commerce any
firearm to any person other than a licensed importer, licensed manufacturer, licensed
dealer, or licensed collector . . . .
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change this in any manner — it only prohibited a licensee from transferring a firearm to a non-
licensee without a background check.” Both acts recognize the fundamental difference between
licensees and non-licensees, and the Brady Act did nothing to change the principle that licensees
act through their agents, employees, and representatives.

If ATF wishes to change its long-established view that licensees may act through agents
and representatives, the public should be afforded notice by repeal of Revenue Ruling 69-248
and by rulemaking consistent with 18 U.S.C. § 926(b).® At the ATF Manufacturer Seminar on
May 8, 2008, ATF speakers stated that further clarification of ATF’s views would be announced
and posted on the ATF website. S&W will review that carefully when posted.

woeni 3t seeks to comply with ATF’s legal interpretations. S&W will continue reviewing its own

procedures for compliance with the law and regulations and seeks ATF’s assistance in doing so.
Conclusion

Smith & Wesson is cognizant of the need to comply with all pertinent laws and
regulations. S&W’s above legal response to the Report of Violations dated June 2, 2008, in no
way should be interpreted to discount S&W’s wish to comply or to seek ATF’s guidance in doing
so. Enclosed with this correspondence, S&W is proposing specific compliance measures and
ATF inspection authority above and beyond what the law requires. We thank you for your
cooperation.

Sincerely,

(b)(6)/(b)(7)(C)

18 U.S.C. § 922(t)(1) provides in part:

Beginning on the date that is 30 days after the Attorney General notifies
licensees under section 103(d) of the Brady Handgun Violence Prevention Act that
the national instant criminal background check system is established, a licensed
importer, licensed manufacturer, or licensed dealer shall not transfer a firearm to any
other person who is not licensed under this chapter, unless— [remainder deleted] . .

¥See Rice v. Rehner, 463 U.S. 713, 730 n.13 (1983) (“that early position . . . is surely more
indicative of congressional intent in 1953 than a 1971 opinion to the contrary”).
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SMITH & WESSON VOLUNTARY COMPLIANCE PROGRAM

The Goals of the Voluntary Compliance Program are as follows:

1. Ensure compliance with all federal firearms laws, including the Gun Control Act,
the National Firearms Act and the Arms Export Control Act, as well as all
pertinent state and local firearms laws and ordinances.

2. Ensure public safety by enhancing firearm control, with additional emphasis on
improved auditing and verification procedures.

3. Provide transparency to federal, state and local government agencies
relative to compliance.

Smith & Wesson’s voluntary compliance program represents a significant change to its
existing policies and procedures, and will require a substantial investment, both in terms
of human resources and capital. S&W is in the process of implementing this
comprehensive program in order to meet our goal of corporate compliance.

A. CREATE A CORPORATE ATF COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT.

Smith & Wesson will establish an independent internal ATF Corporate
Compliance Department to ensure compliance with all federal, state and local firearms
laws. The Department will conduct reviews and audits of all Smith & Wesson firearms
operations and records, including its firearm serial number control records and
procedures, to assess compliance with the law and ensure remediation of any issues
uncovered by those audits. The Department will be led by a director-level employee,
who will report directly to Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation, and will be entirely
independent from the firearms business. Smith & Wesson is conducting a search for a
candidate to fill the position of Director of ATF Compliance. The search is underway,
and several candidates have been interviewed. We expect to complete the selection
process by the end of July 2008. A copy of the charter of the Office of Compliance is
attached to this document.

B. CONDUCT FREQUENT AUDITS.

Smith & Wesson is establishing an internal serial number auditing process. This
process will include both sampling and complete serial number audits. As a part of the
process, Smith & Wesson agrees to conduct full serial number based audits quarterly
and report its findings and resulting corrective actions from the audits to the ATF
quarterly, for a period of two years. The Corporate ATF Compliance Department will
lead the reviews and audits in a manner consistent with the ATF regulations found in
Title 27 of the Code of Federal Regulations, and Smith & Wesson’s internal processes
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SMITH & WESSON VOLUNTARY COMPLIANCE PROGRAM

and control documents. Smith & Wesson has retained Wally Nelson, former Deputy
Assistant Director of the ATF, to perform a complete review of its serial number master
procedure, known internally as QP-41. A copy of the current QP-41 is attached to this
document. Smith & Wesson will provide copies of its updated procedures to the ATF as
they are issued.

The Corporate ATF Compliance Department, along with each of Smith & Wesson’s
Plant Managers, will be held accountable for serial number control and compliance as
part of our annual performance management process.

C. CONSENT TO MORE FREQUENT ATF WARRANTLESS INSPECTIONS.

Smith & Wesson agrees to waive the limitation that precludes ATF from
performing warrantless inspections more frequently than once every 12 months. Smith
& Wesson will allow the ATF to perform warrantless compliance inspections of Smith &
Wesson every six months for a period of two years. The first compliance inspection can
take place one month after the new serial number system outlined in this document is
implemented. The anticipated date for the implementation of the new system is
December 1, 2008. Smith & Wesson will notify ATF in writing of any changes to this
implementation date.

D. ALLOW ATF IOl ONSITE FULL-TIME.

Smith & Wesson offers to allow an ATF 10l to be onsite at Smith & Wesson for
one full year to work closely with Smith & Wesson’s Director of ATF Compliance in the
creation, improvement, and validation of its internal compliance process. The ATF [0l
will act as teacher, mentor and coach, and will not be used for the purpose of
conducting official ATF compliance inspections. [f it is lawful to do so, Smith & Wesson
would agree to defray the expense incurred by the ATF for this assignment.
Maintaining an ATF 10| onsite at Smith & Wesson for one year could benefit both the
ATF and Smith & Wesson:

Benefit to ATF:
e An |0l with intimate knowledge of Smith & Wesson’s compliance system.

e An |0l that understands compliance challenges of large manufacturers and how
to overcome them.

Benefit to Smith & Wesson:
¢ Assistance in accomplishing its compliance process.

¢ Transparency in communications with the ATF.
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SMITH & WESSON VOLUNTARY COMPLIANCE PROGRAM

E. IMPLEMENT NEW SERIAL NUMBER CONTROL SYSTEM.

Smith & Wesson will implement a new computer-based serial number control
system at its Springfield facility to significantly improve control and record keeping
compliance. The system will be implemented over the summer and fall and have a
December 1, 2008 “go live” date. The ATF reviewed the system requirements
document for this initiative and met with Smith & Wesson for discussion and comment.
There will be future meetings with ATF personnel to review key issues as the
implementation continues. ATF will be provided a copy of the final System
Requirements Document to assist them in their compliance inspections.

The project to implement a new serial number system began in February of 2008.
Based on current third party projections, the system will be implemented by December
of 2008. Total cost to implement the system will be approximately eight hundred
thousand dollars ($800,000).

F. CONSOLIDATE SERIALIZED PRODUCTS.

(b)(4)

G. RECONCILE INVENTORY.

With regard to the inventories mentioned in B above, Smith & Wesson agrees to
continue to search for any firearms missing from inventory after the initial investigation
requires it to report on ATF Form 3310.11, Firearms Theft/l.oss Report. These steps
will include root cause and corrective action analysis of serial number control. Smith &
Wesson believes that by performing frequent serial number based audits and fixing
process problems as they arise, integrity of firearm movement in the facility can be
maintained.

H. EXPAND SEARCH IN RESPONSE TO TRACE REQUESTS.

Smith & Wesson agrees to implement additional firearms tracing procedures, in
response to trace requests, in those cases involving firearms that may be part of legacy
record keeping gaps. These additional steps will involve searches for invoices in
archives, inferential checks on firearms with adjacent or similar serial numbers and
other measures, so that all efforts to locate the disposition of these firearms are
exhausted.
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SMITH & WESSON VOLUNTARY COMPLIANCE PROGRAM

L IMPLEMENT INDEPENDENT SECURITY AUDITS.

Smith & Wesson will contract with a third party to perform comprehensive facility
security audits within 30 days of ATF’s acceptance of this compliance plan. Smith &
Wesson will provide to the ATF a copy of the firm’s audit report, as well as any
corrective actions, as soon as they are taken.

J. RETAIN EXPERT TO TRAIN EMPLOYEES AND VALIDATE PROCEDURES.

Smith & Wesson will retairi (PXEV(XTNC) | former Deputy Assistant Director of the
ATF, and others, fara.narnd of two years to support training and audit compliance
process integrity: (b)(6)/(b)7)(C) y will be responsible for training employees on the laws and
the company’s comiphnance responsibilities, and will team with the company’s Corporate
ATF Compliance Department to ensure that its work is comprehensive in scope and
performance. He will also verify that any corrective actions required by this office have
been completed.
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SMITH & WESSON
CORPORATE ATF COMPLIANCE CHARTER

Policy Statement

Smith & Wesson will maintain a Corporate ATF Compliance Department primarily as a
means of providing senior management with information regarding compliance with all
Federal firearms laws, including the Gun Control Act, the National Firearms Act and the
Arms Export Control Act, as well as with all pertinent state and local firearms laws and
ordinances. The Office of Compliance will be guided in reviews and audits by the ATF
regulations found in Title 27 Code of Federal Regulations and by Smith & Wesson
internal process and control documents, in particular, QP-41 rev 4, Serial Number Master
Procedure.

Staff Responsibilities

Corporate ATF Compliance, along with each Plant Manager, is responsible for the
ongoing compliance relating to Federal firearms laws. The department works with
external consultants on behalf of management to establish, document, and test internal
controls and ATF required records within the company and remediate deficiencies where
possible. Other traditional internal compliance work occurs as time permits, as well as
special projects that fulfill the goals of company management. In addition, Corporate
ATF Compliance personnel will periodically attend offsite training courses to maintain
proficiency and to keep current with Federal firearm laws and firearm compliance
standards.

Reporting Relationships

The Corporate ATF Compliance department reports to the Corporate Controller, who
reports to the Chief Financial Officer. The corporate Director of ATF Compliance
coordinates meetings with senior management to keep them apprised of compliance
results. In addition, the department coordinates Steering Committee meetings as they
relate to ATF compliance testing and results.

Independence

Independence is essential for the effective and efficient operation of the Corporate ATF
Compliance department. Senior management of the Company requires that compliance
activities remain free of the influence of organizational elements. This holds true of
compliance programs, frequency and timing of compliance work, and the content of
written reports.
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SMITH & WESSON
CORPORATE ATF COMPLIANCE CHARTER

Scope of Compliance Activities

Corporate ATF Compliance activities will encompass, as deemed appropriate by the
Corporate Controller or senior management, independent, written, reviews and
evaluations of any and all operations and activities to determine:

e Reliability, consistency, and integrity of the ATF compliance process

e Ongoing compliance with current firearms laws, policies, plans, and
regulations that could have a material impact on operations

e Effectiveness of corrective actions

e Effectiveness of facility security

Access and Confidentiality

To accomplish its goals, Corporate ATF Compliance, with permission from the
Corporate Controller and the Chief Financial Officer, is authorized to have full, free, and
unrestricted access to all corporate activities, operations, records, programs, property, and
personnel. Under special circumstances, Corporate ATF Compliance is authorized to
communicate directly with any member of the senior management team and the Chief
Executive Officer. It is expected that Corporate ATF Compliance will exercise discretion
and confidentiality with any information it obtains as a result of its work.

Responsibility for Corrective Action/Remediation

Departmental managers or directors are responsible for taking appropriate action based
on compliance results or deficiencies reported to them by the Corporate ATF Compliance
department. If proper corrective action is not taken, Corporate ATF Compliance is
responsible for presenting issues to the Corporate Controller, to the appropriate senior
manager, or the Chief Executive Officer directly, if necessary.

Limitation of Authority and Responsibility

In performing their functions, the Corporate ATF Compliance staff cannot have direct
authority over or responsibility for any of the activities reviewed or audited. Corporate
ATF Compliance will not develop, install, prepare, or make management decisions that
would compromise their independence. Corporate ATF Compliance can, and should,
make recommendations for policies and procedures to be implemented by appropriate
management.
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